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Q. Please state your name and business address. 

A. Thomas J. Webb, 130 East Randolph Street, Chicago, Illinois 60601. 

Q. By whom are you employed? 

A. The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company (“Peoples Gas” or “PGL”). 

Q. What position do you hold with Peoples Gas? 

A. I am the Compliance Manager. 

Q. What are your responsibilities in that position? 

A. I am responsible for developing, implementing, and monitoring strategies 

designed to establish and enhance a culture of compliance that is open and transparent 

throughout Peoples Gas and its affiliated Illinois utility, North Shore Gas Company 

(“North Shore”). 
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My responsibilities also include:  1) developing, implementing and leading the 

compliance strategies, plans, policies and procedures; 2) ensuring Peoples Gas and 

North Shore are compliant with all applicable rules, regulations, laws and other 

operational requirements throughout the organization; 3) establishing effective 

relationships between Operations personnel, regulatory and other support organizations 

designed to facilitate compliance efforts while maintaining independence from 

compliance support functions; and 4) fostering positive and transparent relationships 

between Peoples Gas and North Shore, and their regulators and others having authority 

over the compliance obligations.  

Q. Please summarize your educational background and business experience. 

A. In 1983, I received a Bachelors of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering 

from the University of Wisconsin at Madison.  After college I worked 1 year in the 

Central Foundry Division for General Motors as a Plant Engineer.  In 1984, I joined 

Wisconsin Public Service Corporation (“WPSC”), a gas and electric utility affiliate of 

Peoples Gas and North Shore, as a Compliance Engineer for the Kewaunee Nuclear 

Plant.  From 1984 through 2008, I held various positions associated with the Kewaunee 

and Point Beach plants in the areas of Compliance, Engineering, and Operations.  My 

last position was Director of Plant Nuclear Safety and Licensing.  In this position, I was 

responsible for licensing, compliance, the corrective action program, organizational 

effectiveness, emergency planning, chemistry, radiation protection, security, and 

procedures. 

 In 2008, I left nuclear power and from 2008 until 2012, I built a compliance 

program for WPSC and Upper Peninsula Power Company, an electric utility affiliate of 
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Peoples Gas and North Shore, to assure sustainable compliance with the North 

American Electric Reliability Corporation’s (“NERC”) mandatory requirements.   

In September of 2012, I joined Peoples Gas as the Compliance Manager for Peoples 

Gas and North Shore to assure compliance with the mandatory requirements of the 

Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) and the Pipeline 

Safety Section of the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”). 

Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 

A. The purpose of my testimony is to respond to the Direct Testimony of 

Commission Staff witness Matthew Smith.  Specifically, I respond to, and disagree with, 

Mr. Smith’s conclusion that the circumstances at 9010 S. Normal Avenue during the 

time period addressed in his testimony represented an “emergency” situation within the 

meaning of Sections 192.615 and 192.703 of the federal regulations.  Accordingly, I 

disagree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion that Peoples Gas operated in violation of these 

sections and further disagree with Mr. Smith’s recommended civil penalty. 

Q. Do you have any attachments to your testimony? 

A. Yes.  Attached are: 

• PGL Ex. 1.1, which is Peoples Gas’ Emergency Operating Plan (“EOP”) in effect 

at the time of the fire at 9010 S. Normal Avenue. 

• PGL Ex. 1.2, which is the PHMSA Enforcement Guide for 49 CFR §192.615. 

Q. Please summarize the conclusions of your testimony. 

A. In retrospect, Peoples Gas recognizes that the situation at 9010 South Normal 

Avenue (the “S. Normal Premises”) could have been handled more efficiently.  

However, the situation at the S. Normal Premises did not result in a violation of either 
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Section 192.703(b) or 192.615.  As noted by Mr. Smith, all of the jurisdictional piping 

and facilities owned and operated by Peoples Gas were safe prior to, during and after 

the event.  Therefore, this event is not a violation of 49 CFR §192.703(b).  Furthermore, 

the re-initiation of gas by a customer or some other person by breaking the lock on a 

meter does not meet the definition of an emergency as described in 49 CFR §192.615.  

Peoples Gas had implemented its EOP that met or exceeded all of the required 

elements of Section 192.615, including Subsections 192.615(a)(1), (5), (6) and (7) that 

Mr. Smith cited. 

Q. What circumstances existed at the S. Normal Premises during the time period at 

issue? 

A. As Mr. Smith described, in May 2010, Peoples Gas discontinued service to a 

customer at that address for non-payment and locked off the meter.  In November 2010, 

Peoples Gas’ mobile automated meter reading (“AMR”) system captured a reading that 

showed usage of 45 hundred standard cubic feet (“SCF”) at the S. Normal Premises.  

The mobile AMR system also captured some subsequent usage.  Over the next few 

months, in accordance with the process described below, Peoples Gas sent written 

notices to the occupant at that address seeking to have the occupant request gas 

service. 

Peoples Gas’ process is programmed into its customer information system.  The 

process is automatically triggered by a series of events based on predefined 

parameters.  The system generates a field order to disconnect service when it 

recognizes a difference of at least 100 SCF of gas from the last obtained reading and a 
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60-day period has elapsed from the time of disconnection.  The system also generates 

a letter directed to the occupant at the premises. 

After this initial notification, if an occupant’s usage is 100 SCF or greater for the 

month, additional notifications are sent to the occupant encouraging him to contact 

Peoples Gas’ Customer Relations for resolution.  This process is based on treating 

unauthorized, metered gas use as a financial concern, i.e., a person is using gas 

service and not paying for the service.  The trigger levels of 100 SCF and 60 days are 

not based on state or federal rules. 

All usage stopped at the S. Normal Premises in July 2011. 

Beginning in November 2011, Peoples Gas made efforts to isolate the service to 

the S. Normal Premises at the b-box.  However, the b-box was obscured and was not 

located. 

In July 2012, as Mr. Smith described, an individual who was in the process of 

stealing inside customer-owned gas piping from inside the S. Normal Premises, lit a 

cigarette, which caused the explosion. 

During this entire sequence of events, there was no indication that Peoples Gas’ 

piping was unsafe.  Peoples Gas is responsible for the integrity of the piping from the 

gas main to the outlet of the meter.  The customer owns and is responsible for all piping 

and equipment downstream of the meter.  In fact, as noted by Mr. Smith, the 

investigation after the fact found that Peoples Gas’ piping was intact and safe.  There 

were no leaks or defects with any of the piping or facilities owned and operated by 

Peoples Gas. 
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The unsafe condition occurred as the result of two illegal activities by third 

parties.  First, the lock was removed from the meter sometime between May 2010 and 

November 2010.  Then, customer piping was being stolen from the S. Normal Premises 

at the time of the July 23, 2012 incident. 

Q. Do you agree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion that these circumstances, in particular, 

Peoples Gas becoming aware of gas usage at the premises following Peoples Gas 

locking off service at the meter, represent a violation of 49 CFR §192.703(b), which 

requires an operator to repair, replace, or remove from service each segment of pipeline 

that becomes unsafe? 

A. I disagree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion.  Although from the sequence of events it 

is clear that the situation could have been handled more efficiently, this does not mean 

it was a violation of 49 CFR §192.703(b).  At the time, Peoples Gas treated this issue as 

a financial and a non-urgent safety concern.  An individual, who had not applied for 

utility service and become a customer, was using gas without paying the Commission-

approved rates.  This financial aspect is important and one that we seek to remedy, but 

it was not an emergency or an imminent safety issue.  Peoples Gas does not have 

procedures that identify events such as occurred at the S. Normal Premises as events 

requiring immediate attention.  If the sequence of events prior to the explosion had been 

brought to the attention of operational management, no procedures existed identifying 

this condition as a safety concern needing immediate resolution. 

 Although this sequence of events identifies the need to improve our processes, it 

is not a violation of 49 CFR §192.703(b) for the following reasons. 
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 As noted by Mr. Smith, the piping and facilities that Peoples Gas owned and 

operated were intact.  There were no leaks or defects of any kind with any of the piping 

or facilities upstream of the outlet of the meter.  Under 49 CFR Part 192, pipeline 

operators do not have jurisdiction over customer-owned piping and appliances, i.e., 

piping downstream of the meter outlet. 

 Peoples Gas only became aware that the occupant at the S. Normal Premises 

used gas because we have implemented mobile AMR.  Mobile AMR is accomplished by 

a van driving around the city collecting data.  This data is then downloaded to our 

customer information system and compared to previous readings to determine the 

amount of gas consumed.  There is no requirement in Part 192 of the federal rules or 

any state requirement to implement mobile AMR.  Therefore, it was only by 

happenstance that Peoples Gas became aware of the use of gas at the S. Normal 

Premises.  The current mobile AMR system records all usage but only alerts Peoples 

Gas of usage if it exceeds predetermined values, minimizing erroneous readings.  

Without mobile AMR, Peoples Gas would not have been aware of the usage.  

Furthermore, as demonstrated by the sequence of events, an individual could have 

broken the lock and opened the gas valve, but consumed no gas or minimal gas, and 

this sequence of events would not have changed. 

 As noted by the Staff testimony although someone broke the lock on the valve at 

the meter for the S. Normal Premises, the valve was still intact and in operable 

condition.  There was no defect with the meter or the valve. 

The illegal act of breaking the lock on the valve did not create an unsafe 

condition or an emergency.  This is evident from the over 18 month time lapse between 
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the initiation of gas and the fire at the S. Normal Premises.  The unsafe condition was 

caused by an individual stealing customer-owned piping inside the S. Normal Premises.  

Peoples Gas does not have jurisdiction over the customer-owned piping.  This unsafe 

condition could have occurred at any customer’s residence if a third party broke into his 

home and stole customer piping.  

Q. Do you agree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion that these circumstances, in particular, 

Peoples Gas becoming aware of gas usage at the premises following Peoples Gas’ 

locking off service at the meter, represent an “emergency” consistent with Section 

192.615? 

A. I disagree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion.  It is first important to note that PHMSA  

has not explicitly defined emergency.  However, the meaning of “emergency” is implied 

in the requirements of 49 CFR §192.615, Emergency Plans, which states, in relevant 

part: 

(a)  Each operator shall establish written procedures to minimize the 
hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. At a minimum, the 
procedures must provide for the following: 

(1) Receiving, identifying, and classifying notices of events which 
require immediate response by the operator. 

(2) Establishing and maintaining adequate means of 
communication with appropriate fire, police, and other public 
officials. 

(3) Prompt and effective response to a notice of each type of 
emergency, including the following: 

(i) Gas detected inside or near a building. 
(ii) Fire located near or directly involving a pipeline 

facility. 
(iii) Explosion occurring near or directly involving a 

pipeline facility. 
(iv) Natural disaster. 

Peoples Gas has an EOP that meets or exceeds all of these requirements.  Peoples 

Gas provides that plan to Staff, and it is attached as PGL Ex. 1.1. 
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Q. Mr. Smith specifically alleges that Peoples Gas was out of compliance with 49 

CFR §§192.615(a)(1), (5), (6) and (7).  Do you agree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion that 

Peoples Gas operated out of compliance with these subsections? 

A. I disagree with Mr. Smith’s conclusion.  Peoples Gas has implemented a detailed 

and lengthy EOP.  Peoples Gas updates the EOP regularly and submits a copy of it to 

the Commission Staff.  The EOP that was in effect at the time of the event in 2012 was 

divided into ten separate sections and contained 23 separate exhibits.  The sections of 

the EOP address all of the requirements of Section 192.615 and also cover additional 

emergency procedures that are not required by Section 192.615.  In particular, Section 

IV of the EOP addresses all of the requirements that are specifically set forth in Section 

192.615(a).  Given its level of detail, Peoples Gas’ EOP exceeds the minimum 

regulatory requirements. 

Q. Under Section 192.615(a)(1), the operator’s emergency plan must provide for 

“[r]eceiving, identifying, and classifying notices of events which require immediate 

response by the operator.”  Does Peoples Gas’ EOP address this subsection? 

A. Yes.  First, it is important to point out that Section 192.615 only requires an 

operator to meet certain minimum requirements.  Peoples Gas implemented procedures 

to meet each such requirement.  Specifically with regard to Section 192.615(a)(1), 

Peoples Gas has implemented a system based on classifying emergency events as a 

Level I Emergency, Level II Emergency, and Level III Emergency.  This system of 

classification is set forth in Section IV.–1(A) of the EOP.  Peoples Gas has also 

implemented detailed procedures for receiving and identifying notices of events, 

including “Internal Call Procedures” set forth in Section II of the EOP. 
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Q. Under Section 192.615(a)(5), the operator’s emergency plan must provide for 

“[a]ctions directed toward protecting people first and then property.”  Does Peoples Gas’ 

EOP address this subsection? 

A. Yes, Peoples Gas’ EOP is replete with references to protecting people first and 

then property.  The first reference is in the “Objectives” set forth in Section I of the EOP.  

Throughout the EOP, but particularly the response actions set forth in Section IV of the 

EOP, Peoples Gas focuses on protecting life before property.  Human life is referenced 

in many ways in the EOP, such as the public, customers, personnel and employees.  

The key point, however, is that Peoples Gas emphasizes and values protecting life 

before property. 

 Furthermore in Section IV.-1(G) the procedure explicitly states:  “The order in 

which the actions are taken may vary depending on the actual circumstances 

encountered at the scene.  In all cases, however, the initial response taken shall be 

whatever actions are necessary to protect people.” 

Q. Under Section 192.615(a)(6), the operator is required to provide for “[e]mergency 

shutdown and pressure reduction in any section of the operator’s system necessary to 

minimize hazards to life or property.”  Does Peoples Gas’ EOP address this subsection? 

A. Yes, the response actions set forth in Section IV of the EOP contain numerous 

instructions to shut down the system and to reduce pressure in the system.  In fact, in 

the Appendices to Section IV-1 of the EOP, the company implemented detailed 

response procedures for different types of emergencies, such as explosions and fires, 

malfunction of major gas equipment, and excessive pressure in the distribution system, 

among other emergency situations.  The instructions are clear that Peoples Gas must 
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take steps to protect life first and then property and, to do so, Peoples Gas is required to 

proceed with various response actions, including shutting down the gas supply and/or 

reducing the gas pressure. 

Q. Under Section 192.615(a)(7), the operator is required to provide for “[m]aking 

safe any actual or potential hazard to life or property”  Does Peoples Gas’ EOP address 

this subsection? 

A. Yes, the response actions set forth in Section IV of the EOP contain numerous 

instructions to make safe any actual or potential hazards to life or property.  Each of the 

appendices to Section IV-1 of the EOP focuses on implementing the correct response 

actions to make situation safe.  For example, the EOP references numerous different 

situations that are considered an emergency, including:  reports of gas inside a building; 

explosion; fire; service outages – local or widespread; overpressure or under-pressure 

in the distribution system; flood, water main break, etc.; interruption of service to critical 

customers such as hospitals; significant number of gas or foreign odor complaints; 

street cave-in or collapse; tornado or other severe weather; riot, civil disobedience or 

vandalism; hazardous material release/oil spill; and injuries.  The focus of Peoples Gas’ 

EOP is to make the situation safe and protect life and property whenever an actual or 

potential emergency may arise. 

Q. How do the requirements set forth in Section 192.615 apply to the events at the 

S. Normal Premises? 

A. Until the occurrence on July 23, 2012, the events at the S. Normal Premises met 

none of the criteria requiring an emergency response. 
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It is evident from the length of time from the re-initiation of gas prior to November 

2010 to the fire in July 2012 that gas was not leaking inside the home.  As noted by Mr. 

Smith, Peoples Gas’ piping inside and outside the S. Normal Premises was fully intact, 

with no evidence of leaks or defects.  Therefore, re-initiation of the gas did not fall under 

49 CFR §192.615(a)(3)(i) and did not trigger a required emergency response. 

As noted in Mr. Smith’s testimony, the fire and explosion at the S. Normal 

Premises was caused by customer-owned piping (or the lack thereof), not Peoples Gas’ 

piping.  It is notable that Peoples Gas properly responded to the fire when it occurred 

and assisted the City of Chicago’s emergency services in accordance with the 

appropriate provisions of the EOP.  However, the re-initiation of the gas service did not 

directly cause a fire or explosion, and, therefore, re-initiation of the gas did not fall under 

49 CFR §192.615(a)(3)(ii) or §192.615(a)(3)(iii), and did not trigger a required 

emergency response. 

Furthermore, the re-initiation of gas service at the S. Normal Premises did not 

cause a natural disaster; therefore, this was not an “emergency” under 49 CFR 

§192.615(a)(3)(iv). 

Also of note is PGL Ex. 1.2, which is the PHMSA Enforcement Guide for 49 CFR 

§192.615.  This is publically available guidance developed by PHMSA to help operators 

comply with the requirements of 49 CFR §192.615.  Nowhere in this guidance does it 

indicate or imply that the re-initiation of gas service by a person other than the utility 

constitutes an emergency within the meaning of Section 192.615. 

In summary, as can be seen from the list of events required by 49 CFR §192.615 

and PGL Ex. 1.2, emergency response is focused on events that pose an immediate 
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threat to the health and safety of individuals requiring “immediate response” and 

“prompt” action, such as an explosion, fire or natural disaster. 

Although Peoples Gas could have handled the events at the S. Normal Premises 

more efficiently and timely, the re-initiation of gas by a third party did not rise to the level 

of an emergency.  There was never a leak or defect in Peoples Gas’ piping and 

facilities.  Further, there is no evidence there was ever a leak or defect in the customer-

owned piping or equipment, until a third party illegally stole the customer piping on the 

day of the incident.  Therefore, until the day of the incident, which was more than 18 

months after the occupant of the S. Normal Premises re-initiated gas usage, there was 

no release of gas outside of the piping.  As revealed by the sequence of events laid out 

by Mr. Smith in his testimony, significant time was available to Peoples Gas to address 

this issue. 

Q. Why is Peoples Gas correct for not treating the situation prior to the time of the 

fire at the S. Normal Premises as an emergency? 

A. Peoples Gas is made aware of unauthorized use (including such use resulting 

from customers obtaining gas by breaking the lock on the meter and re-initiating their 

own service) by mobile AMR.  As described above, mobile AMR is accomplished by a 

van driving around the city collecting data.  This data is then downloaded and compared 

to previous readings to determine the amount of gas consumed.  Some limited analysis 

is then performed to determine if the level of usage is indicative of occupant use or an 

erroneous reading.  The current values programmed into the Peoples Gas customer 

information system (100 SCF over 60 days) are designed to limit the number of  

erroneous readings, i.e., the Peoples Gas process described above is not triggered by a 
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mobile AMR reading showing low level usage because such a reading may simply be 

an error, such as a minor calibration issue.  Even if Peoples Gas were to set a 1 SCF 

limit over one billing cycle (30 days) as a trigger for its process, it would take at least 30 

days, plus analysis time, to identify occupant use. 

Emergency situations are those that require “prompt” actions to protect human 

life and safety.  This definition is consistent with 49 CFR §192.615.  Treating non-

emergency situations such as occupant use as an emergency requiring prompt and 

immediate action dilutes and distracts from real emergencies. 

Finally, treating occupant use as an emergency could result in unnecessary harm 

to customers in good standing. 

Q. How could customers in good standing be adversely affected? 

A. If occupant use were treated as an emergency, Peoples Gas would be required 

to undertake an “immediate response” to the identification of occupant use.  A large part 

of Peoples Gas’ customer base lives in multi-dwelling buildings.  These buildings have a 

single outside shutoff for the entire building.  Therefore, regardless of the medical needs 

of the other occupants or the weather conditions at the time, if occupant use were 

classified as an emergency, Peoples Gas would be obligated to immediately isolate the 

gas to the entire building if we could not gain access to the meter.  This is excessive for 

an issue that does not pose an immediate hazard.  Furthermore, individuals have stolen 

meters in the past and relocated them to buildings in completely different areas of the 

City.  Peoples Gas can identify within several square miles where the meter is located.  

However, we do not have the technology to locate it more precisely.  We can identify 

that gas is being used, but we are unable to locate the building.  If such gas use is also 
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classified as an emergency, we would not know how to respond.  At some point our 

responsibility for the illegal acts of others must end. 

Q. Does characterizing unauthorized use as an “emergency” raise any other 

concerns? 

A. Yes.  For example, in response to a data request, Mr. Smith stated that:  

“Reading inactive meters is a measure an operator should take to ensure that unusual 

operating and maintenance conditions do not exist on those facilities.”  While mobile 

AMR may result in many, if not all, inactive meters being read, there is not any state or 

federal pipeline safety requirement to do so.  Also, this proposal would extend to meters 

not equipped with functioning mobile AMR transmitters.  While the Company attempts to 

read all inactive meters, there are practical limits to gaining access to meters inside 

premises without a customer of record.  Requiring meter reading access for all inactive 

meters is, at best, impractical and would increase costs. 

 Furthermore, a requirement to treat such circumstances as an “emergency,” i.e., 

an event requiring immediate action, has staffing implications and, thus, cost 

implications.  The cost implications of Staff’s testimony are notable.  The unauthorized 

use at the S. Normal Premises event was not a situation to which the cited rules 

required immediate action, nor was it truly an emergency.  Additionally, absent state or 

federal rules requiring the steps that Staff described, Peoples Gas questions the need 

to incur these costs, which would ultimately be borne by customers. 

Q. Assuming that unauthorized use can pose a safety issue, but not an 

“emergency,” how would Peoples Gas address the safety issue? 

January 9, 2014 15



  PGL Ex. 1.0  

337 

338 

339 

340 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

346 

347 

348 

349 

350 

351 

352 

353 

354 

355 

356 

357 

A. As with other issues of safety that do not present an immediate safety concern 

(e.g., Inside Safety Inspections), Peoples Gas would, through letters and postings, let all 

residents and the landlord or condo association know that an individual in the building 

has caused a safety issue.  The letters and postings go on to say that unless Peoples 

Gas is allowed access, all gas will be isolated to the building.  This method allows 

customers to make plans if the gas is shutoff and balances the competing safety needs.  

This method has also shown a high success rate for getting access for Peoples Gas to 

enter the unit and correct the safety issue. 

Q. Why are the third party’s actions -- someone removing customer piping and then 

lighting a cigarette -- important? 

A. As Mr. Smith stated (page 5), the gas service lines and gas mains outside the S. 

Normal Premises were intact and not leaking at the time of the incident.  (City personnel 

limited Peoples Gas’ access to the interior of the S. Normal Premises although Peoples 

Gas retrieved the broken lock from the meter inside the S. Normal Premises.)  In other 

words, the company’s piping was safe.  Mr. Smith references the third party’s actions by 

citing the City Fire Marshal’s report, but he appears to ignore that, but for that person’s 

actions, there is no reason to think the July 2012 incident would have occurred.  Indeed, 

the wrongful actions of a third party could happen at any premises with gas service -- 

authorized or unauthorized.  The incident could just as easily have occurred in the 

residence of a current gas customer with gas service.  Therefore, occupant use in and 

of itself is not unsafe and not an emergency. 
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Q. Finally, Mr. Smith, on page 12 of his direct testimony, referenced certain 

corrective actions and said Peoples Gas had not informed Staff if the actions were 

successful.  Please provide the requested information. 

A. As noted on page 4 of our response to the Notice of Probable Violation (NOPV 

dated March 27, 2013), the computer issue has been resolved. 

Q. Does this conclude your direct testimony? 

A. Yes. 


